Impact of Human Resources and Capabilities on the Growth of Small Firms: Evidence from Nigeria

Mohammed Yahya Murtala

Submitted to the Institute of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Arts in Marketing Management

Eastern Mediterranean University September 2017 Gazimağusa, North Cyprus

	Assoc. Prof. Dr. Ali Hakan Ulusoy Acting Director
I certify that this thesis satisfies the recoff Arts in Marketing Management.	quirements as a thesis for the degree of Master
	Assoc. Prof. Dr. Melek Şule Aker Chair, Department of Business Administration
	s and that in our opinion it is fully adequate in he degree of Master of Arts in Marketing
	Assoc. Prof. Dr. Tarık Timur Supervisor
1. Prof. Dr. Selcan Timur	Examining Committee
 Assoc. Prof. Dr. İlhan Dalcı Assoc. Prof. Dr. Tarık Timur 	

ABSTRACT

This study was empirically conducted to analyze the impact of human resource

practices and capabilities on the growth of small firms. A sample of 197 responses

from small firm's owner/managers in Nigeria were analyzed with the aid of SPSS.

Correlation analysis findings show that human resource practices of training and

compensation have positive impact on sales growth of small firms and also have

negative relationship with intention to leave which in turn have a negative

relationship with sales growth. Therefore, training and compensation practices of

small firms have positive relationship with growth of small firms and also have

negative impact on employee turnover that is prevalent in small firms. Similarly,

capabilities of owner/managers of small firms were also examined and it was found

out to have significant impact on small firm growth. Management training,

entrepreneurial role model and membership of professional association were found

out to have significant effect on small firm growth. Findings, recommendation,

limitation and future research suggestions were also discussed.

Keywords: human resource practice, small firm, sales growth, owner/manager.

Nigeria

iii

ÖZ

Bu çalışma insan kaynakları yönetimi uygulamaları ve kapasitelerinin küçük

işletmelerin büyümeleri üzerindeki etkisini araştırmak için yapılmıştır. Nijerya'da

bulunan 197 küçük işletme sahibi veya yöneticisinden toplanan veriler SPSS

kullanılarak analiz edilmiştir. Yapılan korelasyon analizine göre bir insan kaynakları

yönetimi uygulaması olarak işgücü eğitimi ve ücret sisteminin küçük işletmelerin

satışlarının artışına olumlu etkisi ve işletmeden ayrılma kararına olumsuz etkisi

vardır. Bu yüzden, küçük işletmelerde işgücü eğitimi ve ücret sistemlerinin

işletmenin büyümesi ile olumlu bir ilişkisi vardır ve küçük işletmelerde sık olarak

görülen personelin işten ayrılma hızı üzerinde de olumsuz etkisi vardır.

Aynı şekilde, küçük işletmelerin sahibi veya yöneticilerinin yönetim kapasiteleri de

araştırılmış ve bunların küçük işletmelerin büyümesinde önemli etkileri olduğu

bulunmuştur. Küçük işletmelerin büyümesinde etkili bulunan faktörler olarak

yöneticilerin eğitimi, girişimcilik rol modeli ve profesyonel bir birliğe üye olma

bulunmuştur. Çalışmanın sonunda bütün sonuçlar, öneriler, çalışmanın kısıtları ve

gelecekte yapılabilecek çalışmalar için öneriler de sunulmuştur.

Anahtar Kelimeler: İnsan kaynakları uygulamaları, küçük işletme, satış büyümesi,

işletme sahibi/yönetici, Nijerya.

iv

DEDICATION

I dedicate this work of research to the Glory of Almighty Allah (SWA) for all the blessings, protections and guidance He bestowed on me throughout my life. Alhamdulillah!

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I would like express my profound gratitude to the Rector of Adamawa State Polytechnic, Yola, Professor, (Eng.) Bobboi Umar for the immense support and encouragement he has been rendering to me which has gone a long way in seeing me through this master's program. I am also immensely grateful to Alh. Ahmed Dadi, former registrar, of Adamawa State Polytechnic, Yola. And to Alhaji Sahabo Murtala I am grateful for everything. I also wish to acknowledge the role of my supervisor Assoc. Prof. Dr. Tarik Timur for his valuable guidance, patience and support throughout the research period. The jury members of my thesis defense; Prof. Dr. Seldjan Timur, Assoc. Prof. Dr. Ilhan Dalci, for their valuable criticism and contribution towards a successful and useful research report. I am also grateful to my lecturers in the Faculty of Business and Economics; Prof. Dr. Cem Tanova, Prof. Dr. Mustafa Tumer, Prof. Dr. Ali Danishman Assoc. Prof. Dr. Sule Aker, Asst. Prof. Dr. Emrah Oney, Senior Instructor Ozan SinaMalik, and my course advisor Asst. Prof. Dr. Deniz Iscioglu and Mr Reza Taimouri.

I would also like to thank my compatriot, house mate, Musa Usman Terrang for all the support, company while in Cyprus. Ahmed. M Tahir, A. Elhashimi, John S., Buhari S.M and Abdallah I appreciate you. To all my course mates and friends who have contributed immensely to the success of my studies and this thesis you are all acknowledged.

To my mother I say thank you for your constant prayers and support. To all the rest of my family uncles, aunties' brothers and sisters and all well –wishers I would like to say thank you for all the support and your prayers.

Finally, to Hafsat, my wonderful wife and partner, I would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to her for the patience and support throughout my studies and for taking good care of our big boy, Umar Faruq.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	iii
ÖZ	iv
DEDICATION	v
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	vi
LIST OF TABLES	xi
1 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Statement of the Problem	3
1.2 Significance of the Study	4
1.3 Objectives of the Study	5
1.4 Research Questions	6
1.5 Research Hypothesis	6
2 LITERATURE REVIEW	7
2.1 Definition of Small Business	7
2.3 Recruitment	9
2.3.1 Recruitment Process	10
2.3.2 Recruitment Formality	10
2.3.3 Sources of Recruitment Available to Firms	11
2.4 Selection	12
2.5 Training	13
2.6 Compensation	16
2.7 Intention to Leave	17
2.7.1 Causes of Intention to Leave	18
2.8 Human Resource Capital of Owner/Manager	19

2.9 Research Hypothesis	19
2.10 Theoretical Framework	23
2.10.1 Resource Based View of firm (RBV)	23
2.10.2 Human Capital Theory (HCT)	24
3 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	26
3.1 Research Design	26
3.2 Measurement of Growth	27
3.3 Participants/Samples	28
3.4 Research Instruments	28
3.5 Data Collection	29
4 DATA ANALYSIS	30
4.1 Results.	30
4.1.1 Industry Composition of Sample	30
4.1.2 Respondents' Profile	31
4.1.3 Correlation Analysis	33
5 DISCUSSIONS/CONCLUSION	34
5.1 Discussion of Results and Conclusion	34
5.2 Limitation and Future Research Suggestion	37
REFERENCES	39
APPENDICES	57
Apendice A: Questionnaire	59

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: The composition of the respondent's industry	30
Table 2: Demographic Representation of Respondents	31
Table 3: Scale items reliability	32
Table 4: Means, standard deviation and correlation results	33

Chapter 1

INTRODUCTION

Small and medium firms have been the backbone of national economies (Lin, 1998). Small businesses constitute the largest percentage of businesses in the world today (Morrison et al., 2003) A small firm employs relatively small number of staff compared to a large firm and similarly small firms have low capital compared to large firms; however the number of existing SMEs in the world today is increasing faster than that of the large firms hence, the contribution of small firms to the economy remained undisputable (Morrison et al., 2003).

The contribution of small firms to economies of the world are now glaring that researchers have started developing interest in their activities. Small firms create new jobs or employment opportunity in a nation irrespective of its developmental status (Bridge et al., 1998). Therefore, the economic development and social stability of nations are dependent on small and medium firms. Countries that have thriving small business sectors tend to have relatively less employment related problems especially where the SMEs use labor intensive production process that can create more job openings for the unemployed populace. SMEs' impact in a society is positively felt through transforming the economic fortune of both the community and the country where such SMEs are located. The positive impact of small firms led to regional development in many developing countries like Turkey (Kaya, 2006). SMEs also serve as platforms for young and new entrepreneurs to implement innovative ideas

and put their creativity to test (O'Shea, 1998). Entrepreneurs use the platforms provided by SMEs to operationalize their ideas which cannot be easily accepted and used by large established firms. The activities of SMEs increase the availability and variety of goods and services in an economy thereby increasing welfare of society. In the process of carrying out their activities small firms are affected by some factors. The factors that affect small firms can be classified into external and internal. External factors are those factors that are beyond the control of the firm to which the firm can only react to or adjust to. The external environment which is made up of economic, social, political and legal and other similar factors, while internal factors are factors resident within firms upon which the firm has control over and can manipulate directly to meet their needs, for instance, human resource, finance and research and development (Yahya et al., 2012).

Human resources are the backbone of any organization (Morrison et al., 2003). The ability of an organization to meet its objectives is directly dependent on its human resource capacity (Heneman et al 2000) because any plan no matter how well designed cannot implement itself hence the need to have competent and skillful workforce that will be able to transform the plan into action and lead to improvement in performance outcomes for the firm. Although the above statement has been proved by researchers it is also correct to say that the human resource practices of small and large firms differ in many respects due to differences in size, number of employees, ownership structure and other factors like finance, time and orientations of such firm (Desphande and Golhar 1994; Hornsby and Kuratko 1990). Small firms are more likely to operate in an informal and flexible way regarding issues of human resource than large firms are (Gibbs, 1997; Lee, 1995). It is also evident from several

empirical findings by Barron et al. (1987) and Jackson (1995) that small firms' level of adherence to human resources practices is minimal. Hill and Stewart (1999) support the fact that SMEs needs to be flexible, and advanced a reason that SMEs need to be flexible to overcome environmental challenges considering their peculiar nature of operations, human resource needs and management. The sum of the findings in the literature indicates that SMEs are really important sector of any nation and hence should adequately cater for in the interest of the nation. To achieve this objective there is the need to understand the sector and appreciate its peculiarities. This study focused at human resource's impact on the growth of small firms. It is clear from the above postulations that the human resource practice of SMEs is not the same as large firms and therefore special care and attention instead of applying findings from studies conducted on large firms.

Human resource is an extensively studied topic. Moreover, the relation of human resource practice is a widely researched area (Khatri, 2000; Gardenne, 1998) such cannot be said about the study of characteristics and impact of human resource in the small firm(Keating and Olivares, 2007; Katz et al., 2000).

1.1 Statement of the Problem

Nigerian economy is a developing one and its dependence on small firms to create employment, reduce poverty, and create wealth and other economic activities for its citizens cannot be overemphasized. Small firms all over the world exist and operate in highly challenging environments especially in a developing economy like Nigeria. Small business firms face challenges in raising capital and in competing with large firms for the markets (World Bank, 2001).

The human resource capital of the employee is crucial to the success and development of small firm. The fact that human resources are part of internal resource of the firm which, if properly harnessed will lead to sustainable competitive advantage make it imperative for studies to be carried out to understand the human resource practices and their impact in small firms. To be successful, small firms need to have in its employment competent and quality employees with capabilities organizations need to achieve their objectives (Lussier and Pfeifer, 2001; Penrose, 1959; and Schular and Jackson, 1987). Numerous studies have revealed the role of human resources in the creation of competitive advantage to small and medium firms and also the contribution to national economic growth (Lin, 1998). The resource based view theory looks at the internal resources of the firm as main source of its competitive advantage against the competitors and human resources is one the internal resources of the firm. Although both small and large firms share a lot in common in terms resource needs there is also a clear difference with respect to human resources and capabilities and also they differ in the application of human resources in areas such recruitment, orientation, training and compensation and other similar human resources functions that are carried out by both small and large firms.

1.2 Significance of the Study

The purpose of this study is to use the findings to close the gap in knowledge about the impact of human resources and capabilities of owner/managers have on the growth of small firms in Nigeria. According to Baron (2003) the field of human resources studies could gain more from exploring closely the human resource process in small and new firms. According to Lin (1998) small firms constitute the backbone of the economy of all nations. Advanced nations like USA, Canada and United Kingdom have many small firms which help to stabilize their economies. Nigeria as

a third world nation is not left behind. According to SMEDAN (2013) report, Nigeria has 72,000 small and medium firms. Many human resource studies have been carried out but majority of them is concerned with large firms which hinder the availability of research findings with respect to small firms focused on human resource impact on small firms in developing world in general and Nigeria in particular. The research will go a long way in closing the gap between the information needs of small firms and what is available in the literature of human resources. Presently there is dearth of research findings that is directed towards the study on human resource capability and the impact on sales growth of small firms in Nigeria. The outcome of the study will highlight the impact of human resource practices of small firms in terms of training, recruitment, compensation while the intention to leave will serve a measure of the impact of human resources variable on the performance of the firm.

1.3 Objectives of the Study

The main objective of this study is to provide empirical evidence on human resources and capabilities specific to small firms operating in a developing economy. The study will also specifically identify and highlight the human resource practices in small firms and their impact on growth and development of small firms in Nigeria.

Other objectives are to highlight those capabilities that are important to small firms and their impact on growth. Then look at impact of training, recruitment, and compensation on the growth of small firms and how these practices affect intention to leave.

1.4 Research Questions

- 1. How has human resource practice in small firms affect the growth of the firms?
- 2. Is the human resource practice in small firms related to intention to leave?
- 3. Does human resources capital of owner/manager affect growth of small firms?

1.5 Research Hypothesis

- H1: Training will be related to intention to leave.
- H2: Compensation management will be related to intention to leave.
- H3: Training will be related to sales growth.
- H4: Intention to leave will be related to sales growth.
- H5: Compensation will be related to sales growth

Chapter 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

This section will review the relevant literature on the variables of the study. The section will also focus on the existing gap in the literature on the topic. The review of literature reveals that the approach of small firms to human resources has always been informal (Jameson, 1998). Studies carried out in the early 1990s has established correlation between a firm size and the adoption of human resource practices (Curran et al 1993), thus as an organization increases in size so does the level of adoption of human resources practices. Small firms do not have the basic indicator of formalization of human resources management such as human resource strategies or policies, like availability of specific budget for training and formal human resource department. In countries like the United Kingdom training for small firms has been receiving a lot of attention from economic policy makers since the late 1980s and early 1990s; for example Millar and Davenport (1987) and Storey (1994) described training of employees in small firms as an important and indirect small firm policy in United Kingdom.

2.1 Definition of Small Business

Despite the role of Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) in development of economies there is no universally accepted definition of SME in the literature (Ibrahim and Goodwin, 1986; Deakins, 1999; Cromie, 1994). The question 'what is the definition of an SME?' does not have precise answer. The definition of small

firms varies depending on who provides the definition, the approach taken and several other factors. Different authors and regulatory organizations in different countries responsible for policy making regarding small firms, give different definitions of small firms considering different variables such as size, number of employees sales volume, asset size, type of customer capital requirement and market share. In view of the difficulty of adopting a universally accepted definition, this study has adopted the approach taken by Small and Medium Enterprise Development Agency of Nigeria (SMEDAN) in its 2013 report. SMEDAN took a two dimension approach in its definition of small firm and both dimensions were considered for the purpose of defining small firm in this study. The dimensions used in the SMEDAN report are capital base approach and number of employees approach.

SMEDAN, responsible for articulating and implementing the organization government policies regarding small business issues in Nigeria, defines small business as any business that has at least 10 to 199 employees on its pay roll and/or a capital base that ranges from five million to 50 million Naira excluding the cost of land. The first leg of the definition took an employee perspective. Firms that have at least 10 employees fall under the definition of small firm as per SMEDAN. The second leg of the definition took a financial capital base approach. Firms that have a capital base of at least five million Naira and less than fifty million can be defined as an SME. This study has adopted both approaches as selection criteria in selecting the small firms to be studied. The records of SMEDAN show that as of 2013 there are 68,000 small and over 4000 medium enterprises in Nigeria (SMEDAN, 2013).

According to the 2013 report by SMEDAN small firms are operating in about 13

8

retail trade, accommodation and food services, mining and quarrying, construction, water supply, sewage management and remediation, agriculture, forestry, fishing and hunting, transport and storage, information and communication, administrative and support services, education, art entertainment and recreation, and other services. According to the same report of SMEDAN, the SMEs in Nigeria have provided employment for 59 million people, which represent over eighty percent (80%) of total labor force in Nigeria as of 2013. The contribution of MSMEs (micro, small and medium enterprises) to the GDP in nominal terms stood at 46 percent at the time of the report in 2013.

From the statistics presented in the preceding section it is obvious that small firms play vital role in the development of the Nigerian economy through employment almost sixty million people and 46 percent nominal contribution in the GDP.

2.3 Recruitment

Recruitment is one of the human resource practices that is not completely ignored by small firms but is done in a direct and inexpensive ways which are direct application, referrals and sometimes advertisements (Heneman et al., 2000; Heneman & Berkley, 1999). The main essence of recruitment is to get the right caliber of potential job candidates to apply for a job in a firm. Recruitment function can be effectively carried out when the recruitment officer understands the needs of both the firm and the potential applicant. In a situation where number of applicants are in excess of available vacancies the firm will be in the position to dictate the terms of the engagement or employment agreement but if it turns out to be the opposite way then the potential employees' terms prevails (Breaugh, 1992). In other words, the bargaining power depends on the demand and supply of employees and the

availability of vacancies. Given the likelihood of the above scenario a firm is expected to develop a procedure and apply them consistently rather than to react constantly to changes in employee supply. What has been stated above may be true, but human resource practices of small firms are comparatively less sophisticated and also less strict in the application of human resource processes and procedures unlike in large firms (Wang & Thornhill, 2008).

2.3.1 Recruitment Process

The recruitment process is a four stage action which begins with assessment regarding vacancy and need to fill it. The process is then followed by a job analysis, development of job description and finally a person specification. In small firms, one person can carry out all the recruitment processes. Another recruitment decision to be made is whether to fill the vacancy externally or internally and thereafter develop a method of how to attract suitable candidates to apply and determine the application procedure (Torrington, 1991).

2.3.2 Recruitment Formality

Generally there are formal methods and informal method of recruitments. The formal method comprises of press advertisement, job centers, and other agencies, while informal method includes recommendation from existing staff, and word of mouth (Watson, 1989). The main advantage of the informal method is that it saves time and cost. The main objective of the process is to help the firm to get the right caliber of staff at the right time using a minimum cost. Recruitment also has the advantage of providing a firm with the right quality of employees in terms of skills and abilities and also ensures that employees will not leave the organization after employed to avoid disruption in the plans of the firm and also cause additional expenses to start recruitment process all over. Studies have revealed a bleak picture of employment in

small firms. The failure to operate according to procedure led to a situation where some SME owner/managers run firms like personal fiefdoms, paternalistic homesteads, backstreet shops, temporary employment stopgaps, oppressive sweatshops and generally less desirable work place (Ritchie, 1993). The above postulation quite contradicts how Rainnie (1989) sees small firms as small is beautiful they offer less formal work environment, more personal and close work environment.

In the USA and UK research evidence proved that the quality of employment in small firm is lower than it is in large firms (Atkinson and Storey, 1994). Due to financial weakness and absence or low level of union activities in small firms, job security is likely to be lower compared to larger firms that relatively more financial stability and in some cases activity of labor union. The level of engagement of small firm with external labor market, according to Atkinson and Meager (1994), differs from large firms.

2.3.3 Sources of Recruitment Available to Firms

Firms recruit from within or from outside or both. The decision as to which of these methods to use is determined by the advantage each method affords firms. Internal recruitment is promotion from within the organization, lateral transfer of employees, job rotation, rehiring or recalling former employees (Breaugh, 1992). To fill vacancies using internal recruitment gives the firm the accurate information on the performance of employees that is crucial in the hiring decision. Personnel record is already available to help in making correct decision. This method is also less costly because information is already available within firm records and there will be no delay in contacting the employees that are already working within the firm. Other

advantages associated with internal recruiting are that employees are already familiar with the firm; it will also motivate employees if internal workers are promoted to fill vacancies (Falvey, 1987; Schuler & Jackson, 1987).

Recruitment from external sources also has advantages. External recruitment can bring new employees with new and fresh ideas of conducting business. Trained employees will save the company from training expenses and in situation where there is no suitable internal person to employ. The methods of external recruitment include; employee referrals programs, walk-ins, employment agencies, other companies, temporary help agencies, trade associations and unions, contract agencies and schools (Olian and Rynes 1984).

Finally, research findings support the combination of the internal and external source in recruitment of employees (Olian and Rynes 1984). The availability of resources, how quickly the job needs to be filled and the business environment are the factors that certainly affect the decision as to which method to employ.

2.4 Selection

Recruitment complements other human resource activities such as training, selection, compensation which are essential for firm's effectiveness. It is therefore of paramount Importance for firms to make careful decision in issues related to human resources (Barringer et al., 2005).

The next action is the selection process which gives the firm the relevant information about the applicants that will help in selection decision of the firm. Firms need to get information relevant in the employment of the applicant to help them make an informed decision about applicants. Firms analyze jobs before selection in order to determine relevant criteria. The main objective should be to find the right and valid predictors that will make it possible for selection. When candidates are selected they will be perfectly fit into the jobs and therefore deliver on their expectation. Another challenge faced by firms is identifying appropriate and measurable criteria in validating the selection device. The small firm has selection criteria which are quite different from that of larger firms. Studies have indicated that selection and high growth is positively related (Barringer, 2005). Selection process in small firms is mostly based on interviews. In small firms, cultural values are given more priority than skills or competence in selection process (Heneman and Berkley, 1999). This may not be unconnected with owner/manager's preference or desire to work with people that they share similar values with others than people with completely different cultural orientation (Yu, 2001). During selection process, in small firms, the owner/managers try to match worker's values with organizational values and culture (Yu, 2001).

2.5 Training

Training generally involves any systematic process by firms to enhance employees' knowledge, skills, abilities, behaviors or attitudes to improve quality of their contribution towards the achievement of firm's goals (Storey, 1994). Employees are trained to be able to do a better job in their present jobs or get prepared for new challenges they are likely to occupy and also to be able to meet changes in the environment. Firms train work

ers of all strata within the firm to improve their technical ability and complex social and cognitive skills. Training consumes large amounts of firms' income. According

to Cardon and Stevens (2004) training and education is not given the adequate attention it deserves in small firms. In small firms training is usually carried out on the job by senior managers, supervisors and the owner/ manager (Cardon and Stevens, 2004). Most small firms consider sending employees for an off the job training a waste of resources (Storey, 1994; Gardenne, 1998).

Training can only contribute to overall development of a firm when it is done by; first of all, analyzing the training needs which will link the training to relevant organizational outcomes. This process is known as training needs analysis. Mc Gehee and Thayer (1961) stated this in the first book written on organizational training. Training analysis involve tasks such as organization analysis, task analysis, person analysis (Voss et al., 1998).

Organizational analysis is carried out to determine specifically where in the organization the training is needed. It is done through looking at the task analysis, person analysis, demographic analysis and performance analysis (Kotey and Slade, 2005).

For a firm to carry out effective training program there is the need to establish training objectives which will serve as a guide to training content design, training method and evaluation criteria. The outcome of training will lead to positive change in performance which occurs as a result of learning that took place throughout the period of the training. What is learning? And what is the result of learning? Although there is no existing consensus as to what constitutes learning, the definition advanced by Beach (1980) defined learning as all the human process through

which skill, knowledge habits and attitudes are acquired and altered so that behavior is modified or changed. This definition seems to have a large body of research that supports it. Beach's (1980) definition has some important component that are considered very crucial to learning such as skill and knowledge and the fact that it emphasizes that learning has taken place only when it affects behavior or intention to behave (Maples and Webster, 1980; Foreman, 1980). The aspects of the definition consist of skills and knowledge which are very interesting to know more about. Skill is practical which deals with the demonstration in doing something that defers from knowledge that is actually abstract and can be elicited by discussion and questioning. Yet knowledge and skills are closely related because the application of skills is always contextual and always influenced by collective as well as individual knowledge regarding a given situation. The term training implies the learning of related skills and knowledge.

Firms face critical human resource management decision when it comes to employment. Two issues arise for decision; either to hire applicant who possess the requisite knowledge, skills and abilities required in doing a job, or first of all employ then train them afterwards. The first option is very difficult because people with the required knowledge, skills, and abilities to do the job are not always available. It is also difficult to determine the extent of training that would be required to the do a job effectively, as many studies have been carried out about the need to prove the cost benefit in investing scarce resources in the training of owner/manager as well as the staff of SMEs (Wood and Campbell, 1970; Thomas, 1969; Gibb, 1970). It has also been established that formal training does not appeal to small firms (Johnson and Gibbins, 1992).

Reasons adduced for the lack enthusiasm in training by SMEs are inadequate time and also the training materials are not suitable for small businesses. Small firms are less likely to train their staff than large firms due to high turnover rate and high failure rate and according to Bryan (2006) shallow hierarchy that prevents long term career prospects in small firms.

2.6 Compensation

Employee compensation is all the forms of payments made to the employees as a result of their employment and performance of assigned duties by the employee (Deshpande and Golhar 1994). Payments or compensation to employees takes two forms. Financial payments consist of salaries, wages, incentives, commissions and bonuses. The other one is indirect financial payment which consists of employer paid insurance and vacations. Employment relationship indicates exchange between the employees and the employer for reward which is often in financial terms (Brockner, 2002). Satisfactory compensation has influential relationship with important organizational outcomes like absenteeism, turnover intention and organizational attractiveness to job seekers (Weiner, 1984; Griffeth and Gaertner, 2001; Heneman & Berkley, 1999). According to Desphande and Golhar (1994) small firms cannot afford to take compensation issue for granted in order to attract and retain competent and quality or qualified employees. The fact that small firm compete with large firms in the labor market for qualified staff makes it difficult for the small firms to provide a compensation package that will be effective in terms of cost (DiFiore, 2000 and Simmons, 2001). Empirical evidence indicates that compensation mix is related to performance (Gerhart and Milkovich, 1990). Huselid (1995) and Delaney and Huselid, (1996) found a positive relationship between incentive compensation and organizational growth. They also found out that use of incentive compensation motivates better than fixed reward. Small firms pay attention to the incentive type of compensation to be able to retain high performers. The incentives come in form of raises and bonuses especially when the firm is successful (Deshpande and Golhar, 1994).

According to DiFiore (2000); Simmons (2001) employee compensations are either time based or performance or time based. The most popular ones are time based pay plans. Time based payments are most given on hourly or weekly wages but the performance based pay is on the units produced.

2.7 Intention to Leave

Several scholars have analyzed the relevance of behavioral intention (intention to leave) and found out that it is a significant predictor of actual turnover (Arnold and Fieldman, 1982; Steel and Ovalle, 1984; Gheiselli et al., 2001). An intention to leave is phenomenon that when high it leads to great deal of loss in productivity albeit gradually for firms irrespective of size. The loss when enormous will lead to loss of trained and experienced hands that has always been expensive to replace. Replacing employees causes additional expenses in recruitment, selection processes, training orientation and productivity. Continued loss of employees will also lead to understaffing that will eventually lead to problems of productivity. According to Simons (1998) intention to leave is the process of rotating people all over the labor market across firms, jobs, occupations and from state of being employed to the stage of unemployment. Intention to leave can be said to be a voluntary thought in the minds of employees about quitting a job, leaving an organization or withdrawing from an organization (Watrous et al., 2006). In order to effectively lower actual turnover rate there is the need, according to scholars, to first of all identify the

motivational factors and provide those factors where they are needed in order to douse its occurrence (Steel and Ovalle, 1984).

2.7.1 Causes of Intention to Leave

Abassi and Hollman (1997) identified five causes that lead to intention to leave, which are:

- **Hiring practice:** hiring the right person for the right position is an important in human resource practice that really needed to be carried out with all seriousness to avoid an outcome that will lead employees leave the firm prematurely. Poor management leads to higher employee turnover.
- Managerial style: the personality and leadership style of the owner/manager or leader in an organization affect their relationship with the employees. When the owner or leader in a firm has a great deal of personality, leadership and management orientation difference with the employees or they do not fit in to a firm's value system and orientation will lead to the employees wanting to leave the firm.
- Lack of recognition: recognizing employee efforts is very important to them irrespective of their position or organizational level. When management recognizes the effort of employee it gives them satisfaction and motivate them to put in more. But in a situation where management fails to recognize good performance, it will lead the opposite result which is to leave the organization. Employees need to be recognized beyond increase in pay. Recognition serves as feedback to employees. According Sigel (1999) not recognizing good performance leads employees to leave their jobs.
- **Deficient and uncompetitive compensation systems:** employees will leave their present jobs if the salaries and other benefits are not competitive. In

other words people doing similar jobs elsewhere get better compensation and other benefits. Employees always expect to get commensurate pay for their effort from a firm otherwise they will leave the firm and for a better deal elsewhere.

• Toxic work environment: the attitude of the employer and the work environment and whether employees perceive the work environment as enriching enabling them to have healthy relationships with co-workers will encourage them to stay be active participants in the activities of the organization. Work place toxicity has indicators as identified by Olayiwola (2016) as situations where firms force employees to choose between having a life or career. Treating employees as means to ends and situations where employees are regarded as cost units rather than assets all the above can lead to high toxicity and will eventually lead to employee turnover.

2.8 Human Resource Capital of Owner/Manager

In the study of human resources and small firm growth, the owner manager cannot be excluded since s/he is the most important 'human resource' for the small firm.

2.9 Research Hypothesis

Training, compensation, recruitment and an intention to leave: Shaw et al. (1998) indicate that some human resource practice can reduce voluntary intention to leave. The decrease has a positive impact on productivity which will lead in increase in the financial growth of a firm. For instance training can lead to job satisfaction which in turn leads to commitment that can bring about reduction in voluntary intention to leave (Tett and Meyer 1993).

Performance related compensation like bonus serves as a simple recognition system that has the potential to reduce the intention to leave especially among high performing employees (Roberts, 1995). Similarly findings by Powel et al. (1994) and Shaw et al. (1998) has shown an inverse relationship between turnover and higher compensation level.

Employee voluntary intention to leave may be affected by prospect of fruitful career which will motivate them to remain in the employment of a firm provided. According to Pfeffer (1994) there is a consistent and transparent selection process to reduce feelings of injustice in the firm. From existing literature the following hypotheses are proposes:

H1: Training will be related to intention to leave

H2: Compensation will be related to intention to leave.

H3: Training will be related to sales growth.

From the literature involving large firms' human resource practice there is evidence of positive influence between training and firm productivity (Black et al. 1999). It has been established by De Kok et al. (2003) that there is scanty literature about the impact of training on small firm. Training enhances the output of a firm (Holzer et al. 1993). Training also improves firm growth and profitability (Bartel, 1994) training improves all dimensions of firm's activity ranging from product quality, growth in sales and profitability (Kalleberg and Moody, 1994). Another study by Batt and Moynihan (2004) found out that firms that invested in training and had higher incentives had higher net profit because of improved skill of employees that led to production of higher quality service. The research findings by Harel and Tzafirr

(1999) reveal a significant positive link between training expenses and organizational performance. Knoke and Kallebarg (1994) show a significant link with financial returns. However, in a study carried out by Wynarczyk et al. (1993) in United Kingdom it was found out that there was no evidence of link between firm performance and provision of training. Similarly Westhead and Storey (1996) could not find evidence that start-ups where founders received training performed better than those whose founders had no training. Baldwin et al. (1994) also found a negative correlation between amount of money spent on training per employee and firm profitability. In summary there is conflicting findings by scholars on the relationship between training and firm growth. However it appears that a positive relationship is supported.

In a longitudinal research by Morphy (1985) it was found out in a study of 461 executives and in72 firms that compensations relating to salary and bonus is positively and strongly related to sales growth. Another empirical finding by Gerhart and milkovich (1990) pay mix is related to firm performance. Similarly, Huselid (1995) and Delaney and Huselid (1996) reveals further that use of incentive compensation gives better result than fixed rewards.

Human resource practices may influence firm growth indirectly, through lower employee turnover. Empirical research findings have proved a significant relationship with high involvement human resource practices and turnover (Arthur 1994; Shaw et al. 1998). Human resource practices such as training and high relative compensation are likely to induce employee attachment and increase organizational commitment (Cotton and Tuttle, 1986). Some empirical researches have also shown

that there is significant inverse relationship between turnover and higher compensation level (Leonard 1987; Powel et al. (1994); Shaw 1998). Similarly, in service industry where customers and employees come in to direct contact, high turnover increase the cost of recruitment and selection and also negatively affect sales growth (Hassket et al. 1997).

Many previous studies concentrated on job attitudes, external factors, job related variables as the antecedent of turnover and intention to leave (Arnold et al 1982; Steel et al. 1984; Shore et al. 1990 and Gheseili et al. 2001). However, Batt and Valcour (2003), Hemdi and Nusridin (2006) have considered human resources as important and immediate predictor of intention to leave. The decision may not be unconnected with the fact that human resources practices affect the employee directly.

Research by Dun and Bradstreet (2001) showed that managerial incompetence; especially in the field of human resource management is the main cause of business failure in the smaller firms. It may therefore be the reasons for upsurge in the attention scholars are giving the study of human resources in small firms (Cassall et al 2002; De Kok, 2003; Dumberly and Walley, 1995; Wager, 1998). Managerial experience can affect the performance of firm through application of better management techniques (Papadaki and Chami, 2002; Cooper et al 1994). The network of the owner/manager is also an important resource for small firm which according to Lee (2001) and Paramaratne (2001) lead to improved performance of the firm. Through personal network of owner/manager small firms get access to other resources in the external environment like information, finance or business related

activities. (Paramaratne, 2001) found out that belonging to a professional body is

also considered as a network opening of the owner/manager. Similarly, having

entrepreneurial background, count as important factor for success of small firm

(Papadaki and Chami, 2002). Entrepreneurial parents form a role model and create

management know-how for individual entrepreneurs. Having entrepreneurial parents

will also lead to success (Papadaki and Chami, 2002; Cooper et al 1994; Sandberg

and Hofer 1987). Hence we hypothesized that:

H4: compensation will be related to sales growth.

H5: *Intention to leave will be related to sales growth.*

H6: Capabilities of owner/manager will be related to sales growth

2.10 Theoretical Framework

To give this research an approach two theories has been used these are:

Resource Based View (RBV) and Human Capital Theory (HCT).

2.10.1 Resource Based View of firm (RBV)

RBV is one of most used theory in human resource studies (Wernerfelt, 1995). All

the studies that used the theory explained the importance of human resources for

firms. Human resources are considered important internal factors according to

resource based view. The performance of firms, whether large or small, is affected

by several factors that are classified either as internal or external. Among the internal

factors the most prominent is human resources (Carmeli and Tishler, 2004; De Kok

and Uhlaner, 2001). Resource based view of the firm sees human resources and

capabilities as strategic resource that organizations have at their disposal to be used

to attain organizational objectives.

23

Resource based view of the firm, according to Berney (1991), Tecce et al. (1997) and Wernerfelt (1984), focuses on the link or impact of firm's internal resources and performance. This view has its origin in the work of Penrose (1959). Resource based view is therefore looking at the resources of the firm and contends that such resources can be source of competitive advantage to firm against competitors and other market forces (Tecce et al. 1997); Wernerfelt, 1984; Penrose, 1959; Khatri, 2000; Davisson and Wiklund, (2000).

Resources that can provide the firm with competitive advantage have to possess some attributes that makes them central to the firm's competitive response to the market forces. The attributes of the resources should be seen as rare, valuable, and difficult to imitate and have no substitutes (Khatri 2000).

2.10.2 Human Capital Theory (HCT)

The basis of human capital theory implies that the productive capacity of employees can be improved or raised by investing in their knowledge skills and abilities (Becker, 1964). Investments in human resources in areas of knowledge skills and abilities can be justified from economic standpoint if it improves the future returns of the firm in terms of growth. Human capital theory places a strong emphasis on the relationship between economic prosperity and functioning of a nation. Similarly, it identifies a strong reliance of a nation on its human and capital stock. In general terms human capital represents the personal investment people make to achieve personal development that result in positive contribution to the economic development of a nation and organization's productivity or output. The theory generally emphasizes the relationship between investment in education to enhance skills, abilities and human productive capacity as shown by Works of Schultz (1971)

and Sakamoto and Powers (1995). Human capital theorists, rest on believe that, formal education is highly instrumental and even necessary to improve productive capacity of a population. HCT Theorist hold the view that educated populace is a productive populace (Amstrong, 2009). The HCT proponents hold the view that organizations with valuable skill and abilities will perform better (Martin-Alcazar et al., 2005).

Following HCT, we assumed that human resources can influence productivity by changing employee competences and levels of motivation which may result in a quicker and execution of business process (Bertel, 1994; Kotch and McGrath, 1996).

Chapter 3

RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

This chapter deals with the research design, sample and size, data collection instrument used and the analytical methods for data validity and reliability of instruments of data collection and methods of data analysis used in this study.

3.1 Research Design

Although it has been proved that human resource practices have influence on the performance of firms (Carmeli and Tishler, 2004) the human resources dimensions that will be used in this study are derived from small business literature. It is therefore obvious that the dimensions do not cover all the human resources practices that are commonly used by large firms due largely to the differences in characteristics between small and large firms that practice full flagged human resource practices. Recruitment in small firms according to De Kok et al (2003) is usually restricted to the use of industrial magazine, and references from current workforce but the use of consultants in small firms is a rare case. The implication of this finding in De Kok et al. (2003) is that small firms do not avail themselves of all the recruitment channels that large firms use for recruitment of employees. In fact only three channels are utilized based on this finding. Training as another variable under study is examined in two dimensions; type and content of the training. The type of training looks at perspective of training given either on the job or off the job and at the same time finds out if the firm values training and whether budget for

training is provided for or not. On the content part, the objective of the training is analyzed to find out whether the training is multitasking and flexible. The content is found out to be relevant in the study of small firms (Cardon and Stevens 2004; De Kok et al. (2003).

Compensation practice is one of the most prevalent human resource practices in all firms due to the fact that it is very important to employees. Small firms experience high employee turnover compared to large firms Storey (1994) an as such to reduce the incidences of loss of skilled and experienced employees and for the firms to attract and retain a skillful workforce it has to provide competitive compensation package and performance related rewards (De Kok et al. 2003; Steiner and Soleim, 1988).

3.2 Measurement of Growth

Definition of growth as a 'change in size' adopted by Davidsson et al. (2004) will be used in this study. Growth is a complex concept that can be measured using several methods that can affect the result (Delmar, 1997). An increase in sales figures, number of employees, or assets of a firm over a specific time is considered as a growth. Similarly, firm's growth can be measured using objective or subjective methods. From the foregoing and based on literature support this study adopts sales growth as a means of measuring changes in firms under study (Delmar, 1997; Storey, 1994; Barkham, 1996; Wiklund, 1998). But among the three indicators sales growth is regarded as the main indicator because with increase in sales, firm can employ more employees and obtain new machineries (Demlar and Devidsson, 1998; Weinzimmar et al. 1998). However, the subjective growth measure is just the perception of the owner/manager about the performance of the firm compared to its

competitor's. Since it is not based on any objective figures or data as the sales growth; it is considered not appropriate for measurement of firm growth in this study (Delmar 1997).

3.3 Participants/Samples

The data for this research were collected from 197 small firms operating in Kano state in north western Nigeria. Kano is the most populous state in the northern region of Nigeria and the second in the whole country. Kano is also the commercial nerve center of northern Nigeria and the second in the country. According to SMEDAN 2013 report Kano state has 7,790 small firms while there are 496 medium firms. The firms were selected based on convenience sampling. The firms surveyed cut across different industries ranging from agriculture, construction, construction, services, and others consisting industries that are not captured in the listed categories. The firms that were included in this study were selected based on the definition of small firms by SMEDAN which designated that firms with more than 10 and less than 199 employees with financial strength of between 5 and 50 million Naira as capital base excluding the cost of land (SMEDAN, 2013).

3.4 Research Instruments

A structured questionnaire was developed and administered to investigate the impact of the human resources on the growth of small firms in Nigeria. Data was collected through self-administered questionnaire to owner/manager of small firms. Owner/manager were selected as respondents because it was established that owner/managers are the most knowledgeable people with adequate information about a firm especially on issues of human resources in small firms (Lyon et al. 2000).

260 questionnaires were administered out which 200 hundred responded after screening 197 were deemed usable. A 76% response rate is deemed good for the study.

3.5 Data Collection

The questionnaire comprises of two parts; general information about the firm and the owner/manager, specific information about human resources practices and the sales growth figures. The questionnaire has 18 item likert scale of 1 to 5 with 1 "strongly disagreed" and 5 "strongly agreed". Four questions regarding the demographic data of the respondents. Respondents were asked question about annual sales growth figures was also asked. Four dichotomous questions with "Yes" or "No" options regarding the human resource capital of the owner/manager were asked. Human resources and capabilities scales is composed of availability of human resources such as training, recruitment, compensation and an intention to leave and sales growth figures.. The questions were derived from studies by Steiner and Solem (1988). Recruitment is adopted in studies of De Kok et al (2003) .while training is adopted from Cordon and Stevens (2004) Compensation is adopted from Khatri, (2000) and De Kok et al (2003) and performance measurement is based on Walley and De Kok et al (2003) and also measurement for growth by sales was proposed by Weinzimmar et al. (1998).

Chapter 4

DATA ANALYSIS

4.1 Results

In this chapter all the data collected will be tabulated and subsequently analyzed to give the details of data collected.

4.1.1 Industry Composition of Sample

The composition of the respondents is represented in table1 agriculture has 20 or 10% of the responses. Construction firms constitutes 32 or 16.2% and manufacturing has 31 or 15.7% and services has 81 or 41% of the responses analyzed while 33 or 16.8% were from respondents outside the four industries listed which is listed as others

Table 1: The composition of the respondent's industry

	Frequency	Percent
agriculture	20	10.2
construction	32	16.2
manufacturing	31	15.7
services	81	41.1
others	33	16.8
Total	197	100.0

4.1.2 Respondents' Profile

Table 2 is a presentation of the demographic profile of the sample. Out of the 197 respondents 166 or eighty five percent (85.8%) are male and the remaining 28 or fourteen percent (14.2%) are female. Marital status results in the table also indicated that 24 or twelve percent (12.2%) of respondents are single, 156 or seventy nine percent (79.2%) of the respondents are married, 17 or eight percent (8.6%) are divorced. On educational level of respondents those with primary education only are 2 or one percent (1%) of the sample, secondary school respondents are 8 or four percent (4.1%) while those with 2 year diploma 88 or forty four percent (44.7%) Majority of the respondents are bachelor's degree holders with 92 or forty six percent (46.7%) and finally the last category is graduate degree holders who are 7 or three percent (3.6%). In age category, Table 1 shows that respondents between the ages of 21-30 years are 18 or nine percent (9.1%) while category 31-40 years are 87 in number or forty four (44.2%) of responses. Table 1 also shows that are 41-50 years or thirty eight (38.6%) of respondents and those over 50 years are 16 or eight percent (8.1%).

Table 2: Demographic Representation of Respondents

	Frequency	percentage
Marital status		-
single	24	12.2
married	156	79.2
divorced	17	8.6
total	197	100.0
Gender		
male	169	85.8
female	28	14.2
total	197	100.0
Educational level		
primary	2	1.0
secondary	8	4.1
2 year diploma	88	44.7
bachelor's	92	46.7
graduate degree	7	3.6
total	197	100.0

Table 3: Scale items reliability

our employees will probably be looking for another job

Scale items Training we aim to give training on multi-tasking .769 Our firm values training We give formal in house training by professionals There is budget available for training Compensation .695 we give bonuses on annual bases to our employees we provide additional financial benefits to our employees we give incentive for individual incentive accomplishments Intention to leave our employees often think about leaving the organization .717 It would not take much to make our employees leave

Note: the reliability coefficient of the scale items with cronbach's alpha of .7 is considered reliable but .69 was accepted because other studies accept a .60 coefficient alpha hence its acceptance and analysis. All scale items under recruitment failed the reliability test and was dropped from analysis. Similarly two scale items from training were also removed because reliability deficiency.

Table 3 has scale items reliability coefficient of human resource practices and intention to leave scale. Training scale with .76 reliability coefficient had 6 items but 2 were deleted because of reliability, compensation has 3 items with coefficient of .69 and the intention to leave scale also has 3 items with a .71 coefficient. Similarly, recruitment scale was completely removed because of low reliability coefficient.

Table 4: Means, standard deviation and correlation results

Variables	Mean	SD	1	2	3	
1. Training	3.265	.897				_
Compensation	3.165	1.043	.729**			
3. Intention to leave	2.659	1.059	692**	680**		
4. Sales growth	27.9	4.88	.253**	.183**	221**	

-

Note: composite scores for each variable were computed by averaging respective item scores. SD denotes standard deviation.

4.1.3 Correlation Analysis

Table 4 is the result for correlation analysis carried out on the variables under study. Table 4 has result for the highest and lowest significant correlation among the variables under study. The result in the Table 4 therefore shows that the constructs were reliable as depicted training and sales growth (r = .253 p < .05) are positively, significantly and moderately correlated. The result also shows training and intention to leave (r = -.692 p < .05) a negative, significant and high correlation between the two variables. Also as seen in Table 4 compensation and intention to leave (r = -.680 p < .05) had a negative, significant and high correlation. Compensation and sales growth(r = .183 p < .05) had a positive and significant and weak correlation between the variables. Sales growth and intention to leave(r = -.221 p < .05) the result indicated a negative, significant and weak correlation between the variables.

^{**}correlations are significant at the .05 level

Chapter 5

DISCUSSIONS/CONCLUSION

In this chapter findings from data analysis carried out in the previous chapter will be discussed and conclusion will be made at the end of the discussion.

This research has analyzed what impact or influence human resource practice and capabilities have on the sales growth of small firms in Nigeria. Based on the research questions and hypotheses outlined in the previous chapters, analyses were run and results were obtained organized in tables with subsequent explanations.

5.1 Discussion of Results and Conclusion

In this study, hypothesis 1 and 2 answered research question 2 which sought to find out if human resource practices related negatively with intention to leave.

H1: Training will be related to intention to leave.

The correlation result has a there significant negative relationship between training and intention to leave. The finding indicated that when there is increase in training in small firms the level of turnover among the employees in that small firms will decrease. The issue of high turnover in small firm has been among the reasons why small firms have not given training a priority (Storey, 1994; Kotey and Slade, 2005). The result, for the relationship between training and intention to leave, in this research has shown that when workers are adequately trained the intention to leave

the firm will reduce there by leading to an increase in the retention of experienced and qualified employees by small firms. Small firms in Nigeria especially the study area of this research, which is Kano state, should use training as a means to reduce the employee turnover in their small firms. This finding has therefore made it imperative for small firms that hitherto take training as waste of scarce resources because of high turnover rate among employees of SMEs to change their approach and use training as a means to retain their employees.

H2: Compensation will be related to intention to leave.

Compensation has a negative relationship with intention to leave. The result means that with increase in compensation there will be decrease in intention to leave among employees of small firms, the implication of this finding is that firms that have a competitive compensation policy that included benefits other than basic pay has a chance to retain its employees (Leonard, 1987;Powel et al., 1994). Employees that attach high importance to compensation will remain in the employment of the small firm. SMEs that take compensation with the seriousness it deserves will be able to attract and retain qualitative employees. Moreover, employees with requisite character will apply and work for the firm. The result of this study has therefore revealed that firms that took compensation package as important practice and put in place pay structures that are attractive and motivating to employees will keep their best employees intact. Nigeria has a large pool of working population that is looking for job but the best among them are attracted only to the firms with good compensation package.

Hypotheses 3, 4 and 5 will answer the research question 1 which sought to find the

human resource practice effect on growth of small firm.

H3: Training will be related to sales growth.

The result of the correlation analysis for this hypothesis is that there is significant

positive relationship between training and sales growth. SMEs that have training

policies and program, have shown better growth rate than firms that are otherwise

interested in training of employees. Small firms can do better in terms growth if they

pay adequate attention to training their employees through provision of training

budget, design a multi-tasking training programs and on the job training for the

employees. It was reported in many research findings that training has positive

relationship with firm growth. Small firms in Kano can take advantage of this finding

by making sure that the firm has adequate training policy and funds for training is

made available.

H4: Intention to leave will be related to sales growth.

The research findings have shown that intention to leave has a negative relationship

with intention to leave. Firms that have reported growth in their operations have

lower turnover incidences. The implication of this outcome is that firms whose

growth rate is positive have lower intention to leave among the employees of the

firm. So small firms that want to improve their sales performance must, therefore

work towards reducing the intention to leave.

H5: Compensation is related to sales growth

36

The research findings of relationship between compensation and sales growth indicated positive relationships. When firms take adequate measures to put in place compensation practices that are attractive it will lead to better performance of employees which will result in growth of the firm. A small firm that has a compensation package has the chance to attract well trained and experienced workers who will remain and continue to give their best for the firm. It is therefore regarded as the best policy for firms to put in place a compensation policy that will attract experts and other professionals to small firms especially in Nigeria as well as Kano.

The compensation between small firm and large firms for competent staff can be won by small firms if only they will provide adequate and competitive pay structure that will entice employees to apply for jobs in small firms which will enable such firm to have access to competent employees to grow. Desphande and Golhar (1994) identified compensation as a tool that is within the reach of the small firm management cut down on the of employees leaving small firms for greener pasture in the larger firm with well-structured compensation system.in this study compensation is positively related to sales growth (hypothesis) Faems et al (2005) also found compensation to have significant positive impact on productivity and profitability.

5.2 Limitation and Future Research Suggestion

This research was conducted on small firms in Kano state one of the 36 states in Nigeria. For the purpose of generalization of findings to all states in Nigeria there is the need for further studies in other parts of Nigeria. In the studies involving growth process longitudinal research is most suitable but due to time constraint considering the fact that this is master thesis with limited time frame another study that can be undertaken with enough time to do longitudinal studies on the impact of human

resources and capabilities on the growth of small firms. Also in this study sales growth is the only growth indicator used instead of using multiple indicators like assets and number of employees which supported by scholars (Delmar, 1997; Weinzimmer et al., 1998; Delmer et al., 1998). This is a limitation that can corrected by carrying out s study using the multi- dimensional aspects of small firm growth.

REFERENCES

- Abbasi, S. M., and Hollman, K. W (2000). Turnover: The real bottom line. *Public Personnel Management*, 29(3), 333-342.
- Armstrong, M. (2009). Armstrong's handbook of human resource management practice, (11th ed.). London: Kogan Page.
- Arnold, H.J., & Feldman, D.C. (1982), A multivariate analysis of the determinants of job turnover, *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 67, 3, 350–360
- Arthur, J. (1994). Effects of human resource systems on manufacturing performance and turnover, *Academy of Management Journal*, *37*, 670–687.
- Atkinson, J. & Meager, N. (1994). Running to stand still: The small firm in the labor market, in: J. Atkinson and D. Storey (eds), *Employment, the small firm and the labor market*, London: Routledge.
- Atkinson, J. & Storey, D. (1994). Employment, the small firm and labor, Routledge,

 London
- Baldwin, J, Chandler, W.C Le & Papailiadis T. (1994). Strategies for success: A profile of growing small and medium-sized enterprises (GSMEs) in Canada's Statistics. Canada, Ottawa.

- Barkham, R. Gudgin, G. Hart, M. & Hanvey, E. (1996). *The determinants of small firm growth*, Gateshead, Tyne and Wear, UK: Athenaeum press.
- Barney, J. (1991). Firm resources and sustained competitive advantage, *Journal of Management*, (17(1), pp. 99-120.
- Baron, R.A. (2003). Human resource management and entrepreneurship: Some reciprocal benefits of closer links.
- Barringer, B. R; Jones, F.F. & Neubaum, D. O. (2005). A quantitative content analysis of the characteristics of rapid growth firm and their founders, *Journal of Business Venturing*, 20(5), 663-687
- Barron, J. M., Black, D. A., & Loewenstein, M. A. (1987). Employer size: The implications for search, training, capital investment, starting wages, and wage growth, *Journal of Labor Economics* **5** (1), 76-89
- Bartel, A. P (1994). Productivity record from the implementation of employee training programs, *Industrial Relations*, 33(4), 411–425
- Batt, R. (1999). Work organization, technology, and performance in customer services and sales. *Industrial and Labor Relations Review*, 52, 539-564.
- Batt, R., & Moynihan, L. (2004). Human resources practices, service quality, and economic performance in call centers, CAHRS Working paper 04–16, retrieved from: http://www.ilr. cornell.edu/cahrs/2004

- Batt, R., and Valcour, P.M. (2003). Human Resources Practices as Predictors of Work–Family
- Beach, D. (1980). Personnel: *The Management of People at Work*, Macmillan New York.
- Black, D.A., Brett J.N., & Zheng, W. (1999). On-the-job training, establishment size and firm size, Evidence from economies of scale in the production of human capital. *Southern Economic Journal*, 66(1), 82-100
- Breaugh, J. A. (1992). *Recruitment science and practice*, Boston, MA: PWS-Kent Publishing Co.
- Bridge, S., O'Neill, K., & Cromie, S. (1998). *Understanding enterprise,* entrepreneurship and small business, Hampshire: Macmillan Business
- Brockner, J. (2002). Making sense of procedural fairness: How high procedural fairness can reduce or heighten the influence of outcome favorability, *Academy of Management Review*, 27(1), 58
- Bryan, J. (2006). Training and performance in small firms, *International Small Business Journal*, Vol. 24(6):635-660.
- Cardon, M. S. & Stevens, C. E. (2004). Managing human resources in small organizations: What do you know? *Human Resource Management Review*, 14(3), 295-323

- Carmeli, A., & Tishler, A. (2004). Resources capabilities and performance of industrial firms: A Multivariate analysis. *Managerial and Decision Economics*, 25(6/7), 299-315.
- Cassell, C., Nadin, S., Gray, M., & Clegg, C. (2002). Exploring human resource management practices in small and medium sized enterprises. *Personnel Review*, 31, 671–692.
- Cooper, A. C., Gimeno-Gascon, F. J., & Woo, C.Y. (1994). Initial human and financial capital as predictor of new venture performance, *Journal of Business Venturing*, 9(5), 371-395
- Cotton, J. L., & Tuttle, J. M. .(1986). Employee turnover: A meta-Analysis and review with implication for research, *Academy of Management Review*, 11(1), 55-70
- Cromie, S. (1994). Entrepreneurship: The Role of the Individual in Small Business Development, *IBAR*, *Irish Business and Administrative Research* 15, 62–75.
- Curran, J., Blackburn, R.A., Kitching, J., & North, J. (1993). Establishing small firms' training practices, needs, difficulties and use of industry training organizations, HMSO, London

- Davidsson, P., & Wiklund, J. (2000). Conceptual and methodological challenges in the study of firm growth, In Saxton, D. and H. Lansdtrom (eds). *Blackwells handbook of entrepreneurship*. Oxford, MA: Blackwell, 26-44
- Davidsson, P., Achtenhagen, L., & Naldi, N. (2004). Research on small firm growth:

 A Review. 35th Entrepreneurship, Innovation and small business conference
 2005, Barcelona, 12-14 September, 2015
- De Kok J., & Uhlaner, L. (2001). Organization context and human resource management in the small firm, *Small Business Economics*, 17(4), 273-291
- Deakins, D., (1999). *Entrepreneurship and Small Firms*, Second Edition, London: McGraw-Hill Publishing Company.
- Delaney, J. T., & Huselid, M. (1996). The impact of human resource management practices on perceptions of organizational performance, *Academy of Management Journal* 39(4), 949–969.
- Delmar, F. (1997). Measuring growth: Methodological consideration and empirical results, (EDS.: Donckles, R and Miettinen, A. *Entrepreneurship and SME Research: On its way to the next millennium*. London: Ashgate Publishing Limited 199-215.
- Delmar, F., & Devidsson, P. (1998). *A taxonomy of high growth firms*, (Eds.: Reynolds, P.D., Bygrave, W.D., Carter, N.M., Davidsson, P.; Gartner, W.B.;

- Mason, C.M. and Mc dougall, P.P) *Frontiers of Entrepreneurship research*, Wellesley, MA: Babson College, 399-413
- Deshpande, S. P., & D. Y. Golhar (1994). HRM practices in large and small manufacturing firms: A Comparative Study, *Journal of Small Business Management* 32(2), 49–59.
- DiFiore, B. (2000). Small business no longer has to mean small benefits. *Employee Benefits Journal*, 25(3), 9-13.76.
- Duberley, Joanne P. & Paul W. (1995). Assessing the adoption of HRM by small and medium-sized manufacturing organizations. *International Journal of Human Resource Management* 6(4), 891-909.
- Dun and Bradstreet Corporation, (2001) *The Business Failure Record*, New York: Dun and Bradstreet Corporation.
- Faems, D., Sels, L., De Winne, S., & Maes, J. (2005). The effect of individual HR domains on financial performance: Evidence from Belgian small businesses.

 International Journal of Human Resource Management, 16, 676–700.
- Falvey, J. E. (1987). *Handbook of administration supervision*. Association for Counselor Education and Supervision Washington DC

- Foreman, G. E. (1980). Constructivism: Parajed in Gazda, G. M., Cossini, R. J. (eds.) Theories of learning, itasca iii., Peacock Publishers.
- Gardenne D. (1998). Critical success factors for small business: an inter industry comparison. *International Small Business Journal*, 17(1), 36-37
- Gerhart, B., & Milkovich G. T. (1990) Organizational differences in managerial compensation and financial performance, *Academy of Management Journal* 33(4), 663–692
- Ghiselli, R. E., La Lopa, J. M., & Bai, B. (2001) Job satisfaction, life satisfaction, and turnover intent, *Cornell Hotel and Restaurant Administration Quarterly*, 42, 2, 28–37.
- Gibb, A. A. (1970), A development appraisal from the management point of view of use of cost benefit analysis in- company training situations, PhD Thesis, University of Durham.
- Gibb, A. A. (1997). Small firms' training and competitiveness: Building upon the small business as a learning organization, *International Small Business Journal*, 15 (3), 13-29.
- Gibbins, M. (1992). Deception: A tricky issue for behavioral research in accounting and auditing. *Auditing*, *11*(2), 113.

- Griffeth, R & Gaertner, S. (2001). A role of equity theory in the turnover process: An empirical test. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 31 (5), 1017-1037.
- Harel, G. H. & Shay S. T. (1999). The effect of human resource practices on the perceptions of organizational and market performance of the firm, *Human Resource Management* 38(3), 185-199
- Hemdi, M.A., & Nasurdin, A.M. (2006). Predicting turnover intentions of hotel employees: The influence of employee development human resource management practices and trust in organization, Gadjah Mada *International Journal of Business*, 42, 2, 189–220
- Heneman, H.G. III & Berkley, R. (1999), Applicant attraction practices and outcomes among small businesses, *Journal of Small Business Management*, 37, 53-74
- Heneman, R. L., Tansky, J. W., & Camp, S. M. (2000). Human resource management practices in small and medium-sized enterprises: Unanswered questions and future research perspectives. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, 25, 11–26.
- Heskett, J., Sasser, W. E., & Schlesinger, L. (1997) The service profit chain: how leading companies link profit and growth to loyalty, satisfaction, and value.

 New York: Free Press.

- Hill, R. & Stewart, J. (1999). Human resource development in small organizations,

 Human Resource Development International, 2 (2), 103-123
- Holzer, H. S., Block, R. N., & Cheatham, M. (1993). Are training subsidies for firms effective? The Michigan experience, *Industrial and Labor Relations Review*, 46(4), 625–636
- Hornsby, J. S & Kuratko, D. F. (1990). Human resources in small business: critical issues for the 1990s. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 28(3), 9-18
- Huselid, M. A. (1995). The impact of human resource management practices on turnover, productivity, and corporate financial performance, *Academy of Management Journal* 3,635–672
- Ibrahim, A. B., & Goodwin, J. R. (1986). Perceived causes of success in small business, *American Journal of Small Business* 11(2), 41–50
- Jackson, S. E., & Schuler, R. S. (1995). Understanding human resource management in the context of organizations and their environments, *Annual Review of Psychology*, 46(1), 237-264.
- Jameson, S. (1998). Employment and employee relations, in Thomas, R. (Ed.), The Management of small tourism and hospitality firms, Cassell, London, pp. 174-91.

- Kalleberg, A. L & Moody J. M .(1994). Human resource management and organizational performance, *The American Behavioral*, 37(7), 948–962
- Katz, J.A, Aldrich, H.E, Welbourne T.M and William P.M (2000) Guest editors

 Comment Special issue on Human Resource Management and the SME:

 Towards a new Synthesis. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, 25(1), 7-10.
- Kaya, N. (2006). The impact of human resource management practices and corporate entrepreneurship on firm performance: evidence from Turkish firms. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 17(12), 2074-2090.
- Keating, M. & Olivares, M. (2007). Human resource management practices in Irish High-Tech Start-up Firms. *Irish Journal of Management*, 28(2), 171-192
- Khatri, N. (2000). Managing human resources for competitive advantage: a study of companies in Singapore. *The International Journal of Human Resources Management*, 11(2), 336-365.
- Khatri, N. (2000). Managing human resource for competitive advantage: a study of companies in Singapore, *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 11(2), 336-365.
- Knoke, D., & Kalleberg, A. (1994). Job training in US organizations. *American Sociological Review*, 59: 537-46.

- Koch, M. J. & McGrath R.G. (1996). Improving labor productivity: human resource management policies do matter, *Strategic Management Journal* 17, 335-354.
- Kotey, B., & Slade, P. (2005). Formal human resource management practices in small, growing firms. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 43, 16-40
- Lee, G. L. (1995). Strategic management and the smaller firm. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development* 2, 158-164.
- Lin, Y. C. (1998). Success factors of small and medium sized enterprises in Taiwan:

 An analysis of case. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 36(4), 43-56
- Lussier, R., & Pfeifer, S. (2001). A cross national prediction model for business success. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 39(3), 228-239
- Lyon, D. W., Lumpkin, G. T., & Dess, G. G. (2000) Enhancing entrepreneurial orientation research: Operationalizing and measuring a key strategic decision making process. *Journal of Management*, 26(5), 1055-1085
- Maples, M.F and Webster, J.M. (1980) Thorndike's connection, in Gezde, G.M., Cossini, R.J. (eds). Theories of learning: Itasca, Illinois, F.E. Peacock Publishers
- Martín-Alcázar, F., Romero-Fernandez, P. M., & Sánchez-Gardey, G. (2005).

 Strategic human resource management: Integrating the universalistic,

- contingent, configurational and contextual perspectives. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 16(5), 633-659.
- McGehee, W., & Thayer, P. W. (1961). *Training in business and industry*. New York, John Walley and Sons
- Meyer, J. P., Allen, N. J., & Smith, C.A. (1993), Commitment to organizations and occupations: Extension and test of a three component conceptualization, *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 78, 4, 538–551.
- Miller, D. & Davenport, E. (1987), Closing the skills gap, *Regional Studies*, Vol. 21, pp. 564-7
- Miller, D., and Toulouse, J. M. (1986). Strategy structure CEO personality and performance in small firms, *American Journal of Business*, 10(3), 47-61
- Morrison, A., Breen, J & Ali, S. (2003). Small business growth: Intention, Ability and Opportunity. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 41(4), 417-425
- Murphy, K. J (1985). Corporate performance and managerial remuneration: An empirical analysis. *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 7(1–3), 11–42.
- O'Shea, D. (1998) The Role of Small Firms in the Promotion of an Enterprise Economy, http://www.ul.ie/~govsoc/ulper/oshea.html

- Olayiwola R. O. (2016). Ethical Climate's Relationship to Job Satisfaction,
 Organizational Commitment and Turnover Intention among Employees. Thesis
 submitted to Eastern Mediterranean University.
- Papadaki, E., & Chami, B. (2002) Growth determinants of micro-businesses in Canada, Research report presented at CEA 37th Annual Meetings Thursday, May 29- June
- Penrose, E (1959) The theory of growth of the firm. New York: John Wiley and Sons.
- Pfeffer, J. (1994). *Competitive Advantage through People*, Boston: Harvard Business School Press.
- Powell, I., Montgomery, M., & Cosgrove, J. (1994). Compensation structure and establishment quit and fire rates. Industrial relations: *A Journal of Economy and Society*, *33*(2), 229-248.
- Powers, D. A., & Ellison, C. G. (1995). Interracial contact and black racial attitudes: The contact hypothesis and selectivity bias. *Social Forces*, 74(1), 205-226.
- Premaratne, S. P. (2001). Networks, resources and small business growth: The experience in Sri Lanka. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 39(4), 636-671.
- Rainnie, A. (1989). *Industrial relations in small firms, small is not beautiful*, London: Routledge.

- Ritchie, J. (1993). Strategies For human resource management: Challenges in smaller and entrepreneurial organizations, in Harrison, R. (Ed.), Human resource management: issues and strategies, Addison-Wesley, Wokingham.
- Roberts, K. (1995). The proof of human resource is in the profits. *People Management*, 1(3), 42–43.
- Sakamoto, A., & Powers, D. A. (1995). Education and the dual labor market for Japanese men. *American Sociological Review*, 60, 222–246.
- Sandberg, W. R., & Hofer, C. W. (1987) Improving new venture performance: The role of strategy, industry structure and entrepreneur, *Journal of Business Venturing*, 9(1), 5-28
- Schuler, R. S., and Jackson, S. E. (1987). Linking competitive strategies with human resource practices, *Academy of Management Executive*, 1(3), 207-219
- Schultz, T. W. (1971). *Investment in human capital*, New York, NY: Free Press.
- Shaw, J. D., John E. D. G., Douglas Jr. J. & Nina G. (1998). An organization-level analysis of voluntary and involuntary turnover, *Academy of Management Journal* 41(5), 511–525
- Simmons, J. (2001). Flexible benefits for small employers. *Journal of Accountancy*, 191, 37-41.

- Simon, J. (1998). The ultimate resource II: people, materials, and environment. Edited by: Matthew Munsey. June, 4, 1998.
- SMEDAN (2013) Survey report on Micro, Small, and Medium Enterprises (MSMEs) in Nigeria. Abuja: Small and Medium Enterprises Development Agency of Nigeria.
- Steel, R. P., & Ovalle, N. K. (1984). A review and meta-analysis of research on the relationship between behavioral intentions and employee turnover, *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 69 (4), 673–686
- Steiner, N. & Solem, D. (1988). Factors for success in manufacturing firms, *Journal* of Small Business Management, 26, (1) 51-56
- Storey, D.J. (1994). *Understanding Small Business Sector*: London: Routledge.
- Teece, D. J., Pisano G. & Shuen, A. (1997). Dynamic capabilities and strategic management, *Strategic Management Journal*, 18(7), 509-533
- Tett, P. & John P. M. (1993) Job satisfaction, organizational commitment, turnover intention and turnover: Path Analyses Based on Meta Analytic Findings', Personnel Psychology 46(2), 259–292
- Thomas, M. (1992), Key competencies in small business, NCVR Adelaide, Australia, pp1-61

Torrington, D. (1991). How does human resources management change the personnel

Turnover, Journal of Applied Psychology, 67, 3, 350–360

- Voss, C. A., Blackmon, K., Cagliano, R., Hanson, P., & Wilson, F. (1998). Made in Europe: Small companies, *Business Strategy Review*, 9(4), 1-20
- Wagar, T. H. (1998). Determinants of human resource management practices in small firms: Some evidence from Atlantic Canada, *Journal of Small Business Management* 36(2), 13-23.
- Wang, T & Thornhill, S. (2008). Paying right or paying high: The role of compensation policy and employee participation in improving SMEs entrepreneurial action. *Academy of Management Proceedings* (best paper proceedings), 1-6
- Warner, M. (1984). New technology, work organizations and industrial relations. *Omega*, 12(3), 203-210.
- Watrous, K. M., Huffman, A. H., & Pritchard, R. D. (2006). When coworkers and managers quit: The effects of turnover and shared values on performance. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 21(1), 103-126
- Watson T. (1989). Recruitment and selection, in Sisson, K. (Ed.), Personnel Management in Britain, Blackwell, Oxford.

- Weinzimmer, L. G., Nystrom, P. C., & Freeman S. J. (1998). Measuring organizational growth: Issues consequences and guidelines. *Journal of Management*, 24(2), 235-262
- Wernerfelt, B. (1984). A resource based view of the firm, *Strategic Management Journal*, 5(2), 171-180
- Westhead, P & Storey, D. J (1997). Training provision and the development of small and medium-sized enterprises, *DfEE Research report* No.26, London DfEE/HMSO.
- Wiklund, J. (1998). Small Firm Growth and Performance: Entrepreneurship and Beyond, *Doctoral dissertation*. Jonkoping: Jonkoping international business school.
- Wood, W. D. & Campbell, H. F. (1970). Cost benefits analysis and the economics of investing in human resources. An annotated bibliography, Industrial Relation Centre: Queens University, Ontario.
- World Bank, (2001) World Development Report. Washington, Oxford University

 Press
- Wynarczyk, P., Watson, R., Storey, D., Short, H. & Keasey, K. (1993). *Managerial labor markets in small and medium sized enterprises*. London: Routledge.

Yahya, A. Z., MdSaid, O. & AbdLatiff, S. S. (2012). The impact of training on small and medium Enterprise performance, *Journal of Professional Management* 2 (1) 14-25

Yu, T.F.L. (2001). Towards a capabilities perspective of the small firm,

International Journal of management review 3(3), 185-197.

APPENDICES

Apendice A: Questionnaire

Dear participant,

I am a graduate student of Eastern Mediterranean University, Famagusta, North

Cyprus. Department of marketing management undertaking a research on the

Impact of Human Resources and Capabilities on the Growth of Small Firms:

Evidence from Nigeria.

The research is aimed at revealing the contribution or impact of human resources

and capabilities on the growth of small business in Nigeria. The inadequate literature

on human resources and capability and their impact on growth of small firms will be

reduced by through the findings of this study. Considering the fact that you are an

owner/manager of a small firm your response is vital to the study. Questions are

asked about the human resources and capabilities of owner/manager, I therefore seek

to request for your patience and cooperation in providing responses to questions in

this questionnaire. The questionnaire will take approximately 25 minutes to

complete. If you choose to participate please there is no right or wrong answer but

your honest response will be highly appreciated.

I will treat any information or data collected with outmost confidentiality. Data will

be strictly used for the purpose of this research and respondents' identity will also be

protected and data collated will not be revealed or use for any purpose other than the

academic research for which it was intended.

Yours faithfully,

Mohammed Yahya Murtala

58

Please read each statement	1	2	3	4	5
carefully and indicate your					
response by placing a circle or					
tick					

HUMAN RESOURCES CAPABILITIES

	Training					
1	We aim to give training that focuses on multitasking to our employees.	1	2	3	4	5
2	Our firm values training.	1	2	3	4	5
3	Generally formal in- house training by professionals is provided to our employees.	1	2	3	4	5
4	There is budget available for formal training in our company.	1	2	3	4	5
5	Generally we send our employees to training	1	2	3	4	5
6	Generally formal in-house training by internal staff is provided to our employees.	1	2	3	4	5
	Recruitment					
7	Our organization has recruitment and selection office.	1	2	3	4	5
8	We use temporary employment agencies for recruitment.	1	2	3	4	5
9	We use magazines for the purpose of employment	1	2	3	4	5
10	We recruit through internet.	1	2	3	4	5
11	Use referrals by employees to recruit	1	2	3	4	5
12	References from other workers.	1	2	3	4	5
	Compensation Management					
13	We give bonuses on annual basis to our employees.	1	2	3	4	5
14	We can provide additional financial benefits.	1	2	3	4	5
15	We give incentives for individual accomplishments to our em	1	2	3	4	5

Intention to leave

16	Our employees often think about leaving this organization.	1	2	3	4	5
16	It would not take much to make our employees leave organization.	1	2	3	4	5
17	Our employees will probably be looking for another job soon.	1	2	3	4	5

Annual sales growth

a.	Total	gross	sales	revenue	for v	vear	2011
----	--------------	-------	-------	---------	-------	------	------

- b. Total gross sales revenue for year 2012
- c. Total gross sales revenue for year 2013
- d. Total gross sales revenue for year 2014
- e. Total gross sales revenue for year 2015

Demographics – Kindly place a thick (✔) in the appropriate alternatives.

1.	Your gender?				
	Male []	Female []	l		
2.	How old are you?				
	Under 20 []	21-30 []	31-40 []	41-50 []	Over 50
[]					
3.	What is your marit	cal status?			
	Single []	Married []	Divorced []		
4.	What is your education	ation level?			
	Primary school []	Secondary and h	nigh school []	Two-year college	degree[]
	Four-year college	degree [] G	raduate degree	[]	

- [5]. which of the following industry does the firm belongs to:
- [1] Agriculture
 - [2] Manufacturing
 - [3] Services
 - [4] Construction
 - [5] Others please specify